IN THE SUPREME COURT IN AND FOR THE STATE OF FLORIDA

:

:

:

:

MARVIN BURNETT JONES Appellant

vs.

STATE OF FLORIDA Appellee CASE NO. 84,014 Cir. Court Case No. 93-2757CF

FILED

SID J. WHITE

MAR 8 1996

CLERK, SUP Range COURT

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Lynn A. Williams Attorney At Law 902-A N. Gadsden Street Tallahassee Florida 32303 Fla. Bar I.D. 195484 (904) 224-2146

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal from a sentence of death.

Appellant, MARVIN BURNETT JONES, was the defendant in the trial court below and will be referred to in this brief as appellant or Jones.

References to the record and transcript will be referred to as "R" and "T" respectively, followed by the appropriate page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress of the Case

On February 10, 1994, Marvin Burnett Jones plead not guilty to an amended indictment charging him in Count One with first degree murder for the death of Monique Stow and in Count II with attempted first degree murder of Ezra Harold Stow (T 82-83; R 220).

Prior to trial the court considered and ruled on several pre-trial motions. Two of these motions included a Motion To Declare Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes Unconstitutional (R 68-91) and a Motion to Prohibit Instruction on Aggravating Factors 5(h) and 5(i) (R 156-157). (Section 921.141(5)(i) deals with the aggravating circumstance of "cold, calculated, and premeditated). These motions contained the grounds for the motion as well as the legal argument in support of the motions. The motions were submitted to the Court at a motion hearing without oral argument (T 45). The trial considered each motion and orally denied them (T 46-49). A written order was entered denying the motions (R 186; R 194).

The charge of first degree murder was submitted to the jury on the sole theory of premeditated murder -- the state did not pursue a felony murder theory for the death of Monique Stow and in fact stated that there was no evidence of a felony murder(T 1166; T 1008-1009). The jury was instructed as to third degree felony murder, with aggravated assault being the underlying

felony, on the charge involving Ezra Harold Stow (T 1176).

The jury found Jones guilty of first degree murder and attempted first degree murder as charged in the indictment (R 280-282; T 1209-1210).

The penalty phase of the trial was held before the jury as to the conviction on Count One for First Degree Murder.

Over Jones' objection, the jury was instructed on the pecuniary gain aggravator (T 1290-1295; T 1342), the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator (T 1296-1297; T 1301-1310; T 1342; R 68-91; R 156-157; T 45-49; R 186; R 194}, and prior conviction of a violent felony (based solely on the contemporaneous conviction of attempted murder on Ezra Howard Stow).

As to the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravator the judge instructed the jury only as follows: "That the crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner without any pretense of moral or legal justification" (T 1342).

After the penalty phase jury instruction, the defense attorney answered "No, sir" when the trial judge asked the defense attorney, "Mr. Tassone [defense attorney], in behalf of the defense, do you take exception or objection to the charges as given by the court other than those that you previously took exception to?" [Emphasis supplied] (T 1346).

The jury recommended a death sentence (T 1347).

Circuit Judge R. Hudson Oliff conducted a sentencing hearing on March 11, 1994, and imposed sentence at a separate proceeding on May 31, 1994. (T 1352-1362; T 1370-1378; R 306-337). Judgments and sentences were rendered on the same day. (R 306-337).

The court sentenced Jones to death for the murder. (R 306-325).

In the findings of facts in support of the death sentences, the court found (1) Jones had a previous conviction for a violent felony based on the contemporaneous conviction for attempted first degree murder of Ezra Howard Stow (2) the homicide was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner and (3) the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain. (R 325-330).

In mitigation, the court found that (1) Jones had no significant history or prior criminal activity -- a statutory mitigator and (2) aspects of Jones' character which included that Jones served in the Navy for 8 years in responsible positions and with commendations and he received an honorable discharge. Jones is married with two children whom he and his wife supported. During his formative years, Jones had the advantage of a secure middle class home with caring parents. There was no evidence that he suffered any material or spiritual or moral privation. His parents were supportive, hard-working, industrious, and successful. (R 331-332).

successful. (R 331-332).

Notice of Appeal was timely filed (R 364).

Facts -- Guilt Phase

As brought in unrebutted testimony at the guilt phase, prior to the tragic events before this Court, which occurred on March 3, 1993, Marvin Jones, twenty-seven years old, was a stranger to the criminal justice system (T 889). Jones moved to Georgia when he was five years old, and graduated from high school at the age of seventeen in 1983. On April 23, 1983 joined the Navy in a delayed entry program, and entered boot camp in February 1984 (T 866-869). Jones entered the Navy as a recruit E-1. After serving four years and being honorably discharged, Jones reenlisted in 1984 for another four years. He received another honorable discharge after completing his term of service and had achieved the rank of E-5 as a second class petty officer (T 869-870). Jones was stationed aboard the Forstall and his service included the Perian Gulf campaign in 1992 at a time when it was still considered a combat zone (T 872).

Jones was in a position of authority as a flight deck director, in charge of maintenance on sixty aircraft and also supervising the launch and recovery of those aircraft (T 871).

Jones left the ship in December 1991 but remained a member of the Navy until February, 1992 (T 870-871). Subsequent to leaving the Navy, and while in the process of trying to obtain

employment, Jones received unemployment compensation. Jones had obtained a job and was supposed to begin work on March 4, 1993, the day after the murder (T 873).

Jones was married in 1986 to Tracey Jones. They had two children, Brittney Danielle, seven years old, and Brittney Nicole, three years old (T 866-867). During the time that Jones was drawing unemployment compensation, Mrs. Jones was employed (T 873-874).

According to the testimony of Mr. Stow, on July 31, 1992, Mr. Jones entered into a contract with San Pablo Motors, owned by Mr. Ezra Stow, to purchase a 1984 Saab. Mr. Stow did on the lot financing. Mr. Jones made a cash down payment of \$1,780.81. The total purchase price including interest at an annual percentage rate of 30.10% was \$6,184.33. Payments were \$192 to be made every other week beginning on August 8, 1992 and Mr. Jones faithfully, usually around six in the evening, and made the payments (T 388-391).

Stow testified there was a minor problem with the car the first day Jones had it, and that Stow had it fixed without charging Jones.

A few weeks later Jones brought the car in and the engine was blown. Stow took the position that it was Jones' fault because Jones had earlier advised Stow the car was overheating and Stow had told Jones to have it looked at. Stow told Jones

that Stow would have the car repaired if Jones would pay an additional \$1500, i.e., \$800 in cash and finance the remaining \$700 on the repair bill by adding it to the contract price. Stow also told Jones he would not begin work on the car until Jones paid the \$800 (T 369-371).

The car sat at Stow's lot for several months because while Jones paid the \$192 biweekly payments, Jones did not pay during that period of time the \$800 in cash (T 397).

After a few months, Stow went ahead and had the car repaired because his mechanic did not have any work to do. However, the car remained on Stow's lot (T 397-398).

Stow testified that in late February of 1992, Jones came in and not only paid the \$800 plus the car payment due, but also paid the remaining amount due on the car. Jones did this by check. Stow said Jones did this even though Jones only needed to pay \$800 plus the car payment due to get the car back. Jones explained to Stow that Jones had borrowed some money from his father in order to pay off the car (T 372; T 399-400). In stark contrast to Stow's testimony, Jones testified that Stow agreed to take the check and hold it until Jones could put the money to cover the check in the bank (T 896-897).

Stow did not hold the check and instead deposited it that day or the next. The check was returned to Stow about a week later for insufficient funds (T 372-373). According to Ezra

Stow, Monique Stow called Jones per Ezra Stow's instructions. Monique Stow informed Ezra that Jones was coming in on March 3rd to take care of the check (T 372-373).

Stow agreed there was a lien recorded on the vehicle and that would be reflected in state records in Tallahassee (T 392).

Norman Zilhaly testified that on March 3, 1993, as was his habit, he was at San Pablo Motors a little before six playing gin rummy with Mr. Stow. Monique Stow was also there, taking care of the last minute details of closing the business -- which included putting "blocker cars" along the front of the lot to prevent the theft of the cars on the lot, and then hiding the blocker car keys in the bathroom (T 358-359).

When Zilhaly first arrived, Mr. Stow "was a little bit upset and we sat down and started talking, he had told me that the gentleman had, quote, bounced a check on him, a considerable amount of money for repairs and for the purchase price of a car. And that he was suppose to show up sometime shortly after 1 o'clock in the afternoon to make good on that check. [A]nd I said, boy, that was very very disconcerting, what will you do? And he said well, we can press charges but he didn't really want to do that" (T 363).

Mr. Jones came into the office, said hello to Mr. Stow, and stood to the side and watched Stow and Zilhaly finish the last hand of cards (T 359). As Zilhaly went out the door, he watched

Mr. Stow go down the hall toward Stow's office with Jones following Stow (T 360). Zilhaly observed Monique Stow walking back into the trailer as he was leaving (T 359).

Zilhaly also testified that he had parked his car in a grass median strip which was between a wall outside San Pablo Motors and Atlantic Boulevard. He had moved his car there from inside the San Pablo Motors lot because Monique Stow had been placing blocker cars around the entrances. Zilhaly noticed that appellant's car was parked in front of Zilhaly's and headed in the same westward direction as Zilhaly's car (T 360-361).

In contrast to Zilhaly's testimony, Stow testified that Zilhaly left, and that Stow had time to go back to his office and sit behind his desk before Jones came in (T 377). Stow said that Jones stuck his head in Stow's office, stuck his head in the office, and then told Stow that Jones' had forgotten something. Stow observed Jones walk out to his car and retrieve a faded Crown Royal bag (T 378-379). Stow believed his daughter was still in the bathroom in the middle office washing her hands. Jones re-entered the office trailer and Stow heard two shots in rapid succession. He assumed Jones had shot Monique Stow but couldn't believe it. Stow testified that he then reached back behind his desk to a credenza for a .38 caliber gun that he kept in a holster nailed to the inside top of the credenza (T 377-380). According to Stow, at that point Jones barely came into

the door of Stow's office and shot at Stow. Stow raised his hand to ward off the shot and was struck in the arm and the eye. Stow lay on the floor and passed out for a second. Stow then was shot again in the neck. Stow then managed to get the gun from his credenza, went to the door of the office, and fired three or four shots at Jones who at the time was walking toward his car (T 382-283). Stow's gun was found in the trailer (T 385).

Ezra Stow survived. Monique Stow died at midnight without regaining conciousness. The medical examiner testified that Monique Stow suffered two gunshot wounds to the head, that the shot to the front which was between her eyes occurred approximately four to six inches from her face, and that Stow's eyes were open at the time. This latter conclusion was due to a few stippling marks on one of Stow's eyes. The other shot went into the side of Monique Stow's head and traversed across the brain. The medical examiner could not determine which bullet was fired first but did opine that either would have been fatal (T 744-780).

A business neighbor, Bengy Widener, rushed over after hearing the shots fired outside. He observed Stow leaning over the porch railing of the office bleeding profusely. He also saw a light colored car pull out on Atlantic Boulevard and head west (T 432-433). Stow was pointing toward the trailer. Widener lay the bleeding Stow on the porch and went inside and called 911.

Widener did not remember if he got blood on himself when assisting Stow. After calling 911, Widener heard a moan. He opened the door to the bathroom, which he was pretty sure had been closed, and observed Monique Stow lying on the floor with her eyes closed. Widener observed a gunshot wound between Monique Stow's eyes (T 436-439; T 460).

Emergency help arrived. Widener then went through the office trying to locate keys to move the blocker cars to permit the rescue vehicles access to the business. He was never able to find any (T 444-445).

Two women who were driving by the business in separate cars at the time of the incident identified appellant as a person they saw get in the car on the median strip and drive away. The of the women testified that Jones' was dodging up and down behind the car (T 471-472; T 475-478).

Office Mark Curry testified that firefighter Officer Hagan showed Curry a glove with a partial name written on it. It appeared to say Jone. Hagan testified that at one point Mr. Stow had written on one of Hagan's medical gloves with a pen. Curry gave Stow a notepad at which point Mr. Stow wrote Marvin Jones on the notepad. Curry had experience in the car business and asked Stow if there was an account receivable or deal pack in the office. When Stow indicated in the affirmative, Curry advised Detective Baer that such a pack might be in the office and likely

places to look for it (T 500-504; T 524).

A wallet containing \$1,520 was recovered from Mr. Stow (T 507).

Evidence technician John B. Frascello testified that he collected three .38 caliber casings, two live .38 caliber bullets, one green glove with writing on it, five .25 caliber shell casings, a Smith and Wesson .38 revolver, one projectile, and a set of keys on a key ring (T 540). All these items were collected from San Pablos Motors. The .38 caliber casings and live casings were found inside the .38 revolver (T 540-549).

One of the .25 caliber casings found in the bathroom had been moved from one side of the bathroom to another side between the time crime scene arrived, photographs were taken, and the emergency personnel had already left. No one was able to explain how the casing was moved (T 547; T 552-554; T 696). Another .25 caliber casing was found on a desk in the middle office outside the bathroom (T 551).

Detective Baer, over appellant's discovery objection that he had only been furnished the items that morning, testified that he had made a written accounting of some money found in a bank bag contained in a brief case in Mr. Stow's office. Widener and Sergeant McLeod initialed the accounting. According to Baer's accounting, the contents of the bank bag were \$394 in cash, a check made out to Candice Preston, and assorted change totalling

about \$13(T 681-690).

Baer stated no other money was found on the premises (T 692).

Baer also testified that after appellant's arrest, appellant stated that appellant said he had thrown the gun off the Matthews Bridge (T 695-696).

Baer stated that a .25 caliber shell casing and a holster nailed to the top of the credenza were not observed by law enforcement until the next day. The holster was not taken into custody nor did law enforcement take the holster into evidence or do any testing to determine if blood was on the holster (T 697-698). There were also empty bank bags found.

No paperwork concerning Marvin Jones concerning the car purchase was found in the office (T 693).

Tracy James Taylor testified that he was a friend of Jones'. Taylor first met Jones on the USS Forstall. Jones supervised Taylor. Jones lived at Mayport Landing with his wife and children during this time (T 569-570). Jones had a Monte Carlo. and a BMW. The BMW was wrecked and that was when Jones decided to buy another car (T 566-569).

Jones moved his wife and children to Pensacola to live with her parents the weekend before the shooting. Jones moved in temporarily with Taylor. Jones' plan was to get back on his feet with regular employment, and then bring his family back to

Jacksonville.

The night of the shooting, Taylor noticed that Jones' was acting strange. Jones told Taylor that he paid off the check and that Mr. Stow then requested more money or he would have Jones thrown in jail. Jones said an argument ensued between him and Stow (T 589-591). Jones told Taylor that he had shot at Mr. Stow in self-defense because he thought that Stow had a weapon, and that the shooting of Monique Stow occurred accidentally when he heard a noise in the bathroom and reacted to the adrenaline and just having been threatened by Mr. Stow (T 591-593).

Taylor advised Jones to turn himself in. Taylor assisted Jones in placing the Saab in a storage room that Jones had rented when Jones moved his wife to Pensacola (T 594-597).

The next day, the police had found Jones name by looking at an "alpha index" which indicated who owned what type of car. Marvin Jones came up as the only Jones owning a Saab (T 692-693).

The police picked up Jones after having Taylor identify him.

Jones testified in his behalf. Over the state's objection, Jones was not allowed to testify that he had never been arrested before (T 889).

Jones stated that he had given Mr. Stow a check when Mr. Stow had insisted on getting the check, and that Mr. Stow had agreed not to deposit the check until early March. Jones was subsequently advised the check had been deposited and returned.

Jones went to San Pablo Motors with \$4300.20 in cash to pay off the balance. After paying, Stow became angry, was yelling, and would not give Jones any paperwork on the car and requested an additional \$2000. Jones stated Stow then began to pull out a gun. Jones shot rapidly in self-defense and then, sick at the sight of Mr. Stow shot, went to the bathroom to vomit. At that point, he heard a noise in the bathroom and shot reflexively. These were the shots that killed Monique Stow. Jones stated that this was not intentional on his part. Jones stated he did not do anything at that point but run out to the car. When he thought of going back to call 911 and get help, he saw Mr. Stow on the porch shooting at him. At that point Jones got back in his car and left the scene. Jones went and sat outside a police department for awhile, planning to turn himself in. Jones threw the crown royal bag containing the gun and other contents into the intracoastal. Jones went to the Taylor home. Jones sat in the room in the dark, until Taylor came in and spoke to him. Jones then told Taylor what had happened. Jones denied taking back the money or the paperwork (T 905-933).

Jones also testified that he did not believe it was his fault that the car had malfunctioned, that he had left the car at San Pablo Motors for repairs, and that he had made the regular payments of \$192 biweekly in the interim (T 879-889).

Penalty phase

The state presented testimony from a friend of Monique Stow's that she was a peaceful, friendly, loving person (T 1222).

Arthur Lee Jones, appellant's father, testified that he had four children and had been married to Mrs. Jones for thirty years. The oldest was in the Navy on a classified assignment, a daughter worked for the state, and another son was in college.

Mr. Jones stated that appellant had never been in any trouble with the law while growing up. Mr. Jones also said it was not unusual for him to lend his children money (T 1223-1226).

Mrs. Mabel Jones, appellant's mother, worked for a manufacturing company and then started her own business. With the exception of the present offense, Marvin Jones had never been in any trouble. When Mrs. Jones visits Marvin, he hugs her and cries, which Mrs. Jones takes as remorse on Marvin's part (T 1227-1230).

Ardee Mahalia Jones Harris, appellant's sister, testified that she worked for the state at the welcome center. Marvin always helped at home with the chores, was a fun loving person, participated in the band in high school, and looked after Ardee who was younger than Marvin (T 1230-1232).

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