FILED

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPPLIE COURT

JUN 11 1996

MARVIN BURNETT JONES,

Appellant,

v.

Case No. 84,014

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR DUVAL COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL Chief, Capital Appeals Florida Bar #0300179

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL The Capitol Tallahassee, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee generally accepts Appellant's Statement of the Case and Facts, subject to the following additions and/or clarifications:

As noted in the Initial Brief, Jones filed two pretrial motions pertaining to the cold, calculated and premeditated aggravating circumstance, § 921.141(5)(i) (R 68-91; 156-7). In the first motion, Appellant asserted that § 921.141(5)(i) unconstitutional because it was vaque, overbroad and arbitrary both on its face, and as applied. In the second motion, Appellant moved to preclude instruction on this aggravating circumstance because it was impermissibly vague and overbroad, had been impermissibly applied, and, in the given case, did not apply as a matter of law. In neither motion did Jones expressly attack the jury instruction on this aggravating circumstance on vagueness or other grounds, and, during the charge conference, defense counsel's only objection to the jury being instructed on this aggravating circumstance was his view that it did not apply under the facts or the law (T 1296-7, 1301-3).

As to the facts of the case <u>per se</u>, Appellee notes that a good deal of the version set forth in the Initial Brief derives from the

testimony of Jones which was, of course, rejected by the jury.

Accordingly, the State would briefly set forth the following:

Appellant purchased a used 1984 Saab from Ezra Stow, the owner of San Pablo Motors, on July 31, 1992, for a total price of \$6,184,83 (T 387-8); Jones paid \$1780 down and agreed to make biweekly payments of \$192.00 (T 388-9). Stow had purchased the car from another dealership, and showed Appellant paperwork indicating that the engine had been completely rebuilt (T 369). immediately encountered a minor mechanical problem, which was fixed, at no charge to him, at the transmission shop next door (T 369). Sometime afterwards, Appellant reported that the car was overheating, and Stow advised Jones to take it to the transmission store, although Jones failed to do so (T 370). Two weeks later, Appellant brought the car back to San Pablo Motors with the engine "blown" (T 370). Stow advised Appellant that it would cost \$1500 to fix the car, with \$800 required in cash and an additional \$700 in financing, and Jones agreed to this arrangement (T 370). During the time that the vehicle was in the shop, Jones regularly made his biweekly payments (T 370); the vehicle was in the shop, however, primarily due Jones' inability to come up with the \$800 for the repairs (T 397).

In late February of 1993, Jones was one payment behind when he came to the dealership and gave Stow a check for the entire amount owing, \$4300 (T 396). At the time, Appellant indicated that he had borrowed the money from his father, and nothing was said about any need to "hold" or postdate the check (T 372, 402, 407). When Stow attempted to deposit the check, however, the bank returned it for insufficient funds and charged him a fee (T 372-3). Ezra Stow directed his daughter Monique, the victim in this case, to call Appellant and to advise him of the situation; Appellant stated that he would "come in and take care of it." (T 374). On March 3, 1993, Ezra Stow told a friend of his, Norman Zilahy, that he had expected Appellant to come in around 1:00 that day to "make good" on the check; it was then later in the afternoon (T 362-3). Accordingly to Zilahy, Stow was "a little bit upset" and said that he knew that he could press charges for the bounced check but that he really did not wish to do so (T 363).

Zilahy stated that Appellant arrived at the dealership at around 6 p.m. and that he himself left shortly afterwards; the witness testified that, at this time, Monique Stow was positioning the last of "blocker" cars at the entrance to the car lot (T 358-9). Ezra Stow testified that he saw Appellant's car pull up on the grass of the median by Atlantic Avenue (T 361, 377); accordingly to

Stow, his daughter was inside the office bathroom putting the keys to the "blocker" cars under the carpet, at the time that Appellant arrived (T 405). Jones walked up to Stow's office, stuck his head in the door for a moment, and then said that he had to retrieve something which he had forgotten from his car (T 377). The witness watched Appellant as he slowly walked out to his car and removed a purple bag from underneath the seat (T 379). Ezra Stow saw Appellant re-enter the trailer and then heard two shots (T 380). The witness reached behind his desk for a gun which he kept in a holster mounted on the credenza (T 380, 395). As he was doing so, Appellant came into the office and shot him; Stow threw his arm up, and the bullet went through his arm and into his eye (T 381). Stow fell to the ground, and Jones shot him again, this time in the neck (T 382).

Stow kept reaching for his own gun, and secured it as Appellant walked out of the office (T 382). Stow managed to reach the porch, and fired at Appellant several times as he was about to climb into the Saab (T 383); a number of witnesses driving by saw Jones crouching behind the Saab at this time (T 471, 478-9). Ezra Stow testified that Appellant had "acted like he was going to come back and finish me off," although, apparently deterred by the gun fire, Jones drove away (T 383-4). At this point, Bengy Widener,

who worked in the transmission shop next door, came over to assist Stow, who was then leaning against the bannister" with . . . like the whole right side of head shot off." (T 433). Widener called 911 from the phone inside the office, and, as he was walking out, heard a moan; upon opening the door to the bathroom, he found Monique Stow lying on the floor, with a gunshot wound between the eyes (T 438-9).

At this point in time, Appellant was living with a friend from the Navy, Tracy Taylor. Taylor testified that Jones had left the Navy in February of 1992 and had been unemployed ever since (T 568); despite this fact, Appellant had owned two cars, including a BMW which he had wrecked (T 569). In February of 1993, Appellant had moved in with Taylor and his family, while Appellant's wife and children moved to Pensacola (T 572-4). Taylor had accompanied Jones to San Pablo Motors on a number of occasions when he made his payments (T 576-7). On March 3, 1993, Appellant had told Taylor that he had to "go up to San Pablo Motors to take care of a check," stating that his father had loaned him some money to pay off the car (T 581). When Taylor had returned from work that night, he had seen a number of police cars at San Pablo Motors, and he asked Appellant if he had "done anything stupid;" Jones just looked at him and said nothing (T 585-6).

Later that night, Taylor again talked to Appellant about this matter, and Jones told him that he had given Stow cash to pay off the car (T 590). When he asked for the title in return, Stow had allegedly threatened to have Jones put in jail for writing a bad check, and had demanded an additional two thousand dollars (T 590-1). The two then argued, and, as they did so, Stow began to "reach around" for something, and as Stow "came around," Appellant shot him twice (T 592). Jones then claimed to have been "in a sort of daze," and said that he had walked towards the bathroom; when something in the bathroom "startled" him, he shot Monique (T 592). Appellant stated that he then left the building, and stood in the parking lot intending to come back in and call 911, until the victim had come out and begun shooting at him (T 593). maintained that he had thrown away the clothes which he had been wearing and that he had driven by the police station, waiting to turn himself in (T 593). At around midnight, Appellant asked Taylor if he would help him put the Saab in a nearby storage shed, and the two did so (T 595-7); the witness described Appellant as quiet and sullen that night (T 617).

When Taylor woke up the next morning at around 9 or 10, neither Jones nor his other vehicle (a Monte Carlo) was present, and some of his belongings were gone as well (T 598). The witness

was later contacted at work by the authorities, and, at their request, returned to his apartment with them (T 599). There, he identified Appellant's Monte Carlo which was then in the parking lot, as well as Appellant, who was then standing in close proximity to it (T 600). When the officers stopped the car and stepped out of it, Appellant took off running (T 633); after a pursuit of approximately 60 to 70 feet, Appellant surrendered (T 635). Jones called Taylor from the jail later that night and told him that he had thrown the murder weapon into the river, as he had been crossing the intercoastal bridge (T 601-2); according to Taylor, Appellant had owned a .25 caliber six shot handgun which he had kept in the purple Crown Royal bag (T 603). Taylor also testified that Jones had received ribbons in the Navy for marksmanship (T 602-3).

In regard to Appellant's finances, Chester Brigidini, fraud investigator with the Navy Federal Credit Union, testified concerning his examination of Jones' records (T 639-648). He stated that in late 1992 and early 1993, Appellant had had a savings account, as well as a checking account (T 640). In January of 1993, Jones had a balance of \$5.00 in the savings account and an overdraft of \$46.60 in the checking account, the latter amount the result of six (6) returned checks (T 642-3). The Navy closed

Jones' accounts on February 12, 1993, and Appellant was sent a notice to that effect on such date, after previously having been sent a "warning" notice on January 15, 1993 (T 643-5).

In regard to the victims, Dr. Martin testified that Ezra Stow had been brought to the emergency room with two qunshot wounds (T 652-3). The wound to his neck was life-threatening, as the trauma from the bullet had caused significant swelling, necessitating a tracheotomy (T 653). The bullet apparently also had partially sectioned the carotid artery, resulting in a partial stroke (T 654). Dr. Martin also examined Monique Stow and noted the presence of two bullet wounds to the head; Monique died approximately six hours after arriving at the hospital (T 652). examiner, who later performed the autopsy, testified that the victim had been shot twice, once just behind the left ear and once at the bridge of the nose by the midline (T 750). bullet entered the right cerebral hemisphere of the brain, whereas the former bullet broke the temporal bone and injured the left cerebellohemisphere (T 755). The shot which entered the victim's face had been discharged at very close range, from only 4 to 6 inches away, as there was gunpowder stippling on the victim's nose, forehead and cheeks, as well as upon the white of her right eye (T 752-3; 767); the other shot was fired from at least 15 inches away (T 769). Both bullets were recovered from the victim's body and proved to .25 caliber (T 751, 756).

Search of the crime scene revealed, inter alia, five .25 caliber shell casings (T 540). One casing was found on a piece of newspaper on a desk at the main entrance, whereas another was found just inside the bathroom (T 542). Three other shell casings were found in the back office (T 542), and a bullet fragment was also recovered from such location (T 544); the victim's brother subsequently found a sixth shell casing on the desk in the back office (T 727, 741-2). A firearms expert later testified that all of the cartridge cases had been fired from the same weapon, as had the two bullets recovered from the body of Monique Stow (T 805-810). Although the murder weapon itself was never recovered, the witness stated that, based upon his analysis of the recovered bullets, it had most likely been a Sterling model 300 semiautomatic pistol (T 802-3); the trigger pull for such weapon is between 5 ½ and 12 pounds of pressure (T 820).

In addition to the above, search of the crime scene revealed the presence of blood inside the credenza where Ezra Stow had nailed the holster which held his gun (T 670). Search of the crime scene did not reveal any of the paperwork relating to the Saab, such as the title, which Stow testified had been on his desk at

this time (T 409-410, 421, 693), nor did it turn up the \$4300 in cash which, as set forth below, Jones claimed he brought with him to the office that day (T 692; 907).

Marvin Jones testified in his own behalf at trial (T 862-988). During his testimony, Appellant conceded that he had been unemployed in 1992 and 1993, receiving compensation payments of \$842 per month between February of 1992 and February of 1993 (T 874, 890, 969). Jones maintained that it was actually Ezra Stow's idea that he write the check on February 20, 1993, which he could not cover, and actually claimed that, at the time that he wrote the check, he had had with him in the car the \$4300 in cash (T 896-7, 978). Appellant stated that he had borrowed \$2000 from his father, and that he had "saved" the remainder (T 899-900). According to Jones, Stow assured him that he would hold the check until the first week of March (T 896, 973-4). Jones also acknowledged that, by virtue of making his prior payments, he was familiar with the layout of the trailer, as well as the fact that Monique Stow was often at the dealership at the close of the day (T 974-5).

Jones testified that he arrived at San Pablo Motors at around 6 p.m. on March 3, 1993 to make good on the check. Indeed, Appellant stated that once again he had more than \$4300 in cash in his possession, and that he carried the money in a Crown Royal bag,

along with a calculator and his Sterling .25 caliber semi-automatic (T 904). According to the trial testimony, Jones did not make an additional trip back to his car to retrieve the bag, but rather went directly into the office where he met with Mr. Stow; Appellant stated that his arrival broke up a card game between Stow and Zilahy, the latter of whom properly left (T 906-7). The defendant stated that he paid Mr. Stow the entire amount in cash, adding an additional \$20 for the service charge on the returned check, and that he then asked for the check back, as well as the title to the car (T 907).

At this point, Mr. Stow began "yelling and screaming," demanding an additional \$2000 and threatening prosecution (T 908); the two were then sitting opposite each other in the back room (T 909). Stow began "reaching behind" his desk, and when Appellant saw a weapon in his hand, Jones grabbed his own gun and fired; the defendant stated that he had cocked the gun several days before (T 909). Appellant began to feel sick after he saw Mr. Stow fall and a pool of blood emerge from underneath him, and he then ran towards the bathroom with the gun still in his hand (T 910-11). According to Appellant, the door was partially open, and he hit it with his hand and the gun went off; Jones expressly testified that the door to the bathroom opened inward (T 911, 955-6). Appellant stated

that this "startled" him, and he screamed and fired again automatically; he stated that he did not know that anyone was in bathroom at the time (T 911, 959). Jones claimed that he had had about \$350 left in the bag after paying Stow the money for the car (T 937); he also stated that this money remained in the bag, along with the gun, when he threw it into the river (T 914). Appellant also specifically testified that he had not, in fact, received any awards for marksmanship (T 961).

The State re-called Mr. Stow to the stand, and he testified that the door to the bathroom opened outward (T 993).

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Appellant presents no point on appeal in regard to his conviction for the first-degree murder of Monique Stow, or his conviction for the attempted murder of her father, Ezra Stow. Although Jones raises four claims in regard to his death sentence, no basis for reversal exists. The sentencer properly found that this crime was committed for pecuniary gain and that it was committed in a cold, calculated and premeditated manner; Appellant's attack upon the jury instruction on this latter aggravating circumstance is procedurally barred.

In this case, the defendant bought a car which he could not afford and wrote a check which he could not cover. When this latter situation was brought to his attention, he promised to "take care of it." Jones chose to "take care of it" by setting up an appointment at the dealership, arriving with his semi-automatic pistol, and systematically shooting both Stow and his daughter, taking care to remove all of the paperwork linking him to the car, including the title, prior to his departure. Monique Stow was shot twice in the head, once at point-blank range, while she was unarmed and no threat to Jones; Ezra Stow was also shot twice in the head, but survived, although losing the sight in one eye and the full use of the right side of his body. This was truly an aggravated crime,

and Appellant's final contention, that the death sentence is disproportionate, is plainly without merit, as, <u>inter alia</u>, no significant mitigation was presented. The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

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